No. 42510-1

Court of Appeals No.46602-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Csilla Muhl,

Appellant,

۷.

Davies Pearson, P.C.,

Respondent.

P.C., CLERK OF THE SUPPLEME COURT E STATE OF WASHINGTON

Ţ

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

Respondent Davies Pearson, P.C. proved to the satisfaction of both lower courts three legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for terminating Appellant Csilla Muhl. These include a "meltdown" causing her client to demand a new attorney, conduct prompting the trial court to question her behavior, and failing to appear at a client's contempt hearing because he could not pay her. Coupled with years of well-documented sub-par performance, the trial court correctly dismissed Muhl's discrimination claims as a matter of law.

But the appellate court reversed, inferring material questions of fact from circumstantial evidence, largely Muhl's own opinion her work was satisfactory, or her speculation about why she was let go. Muhl's perception of herself is irrelevant. She can defeat summary judgment only with facts, not supposition. And the appellate court cannot act as a superpersonnel agency, second-guessing the professional standard to which Davies holds its lawyers.

Erring again, the appellate court refused to consider whether a **Burnet** violation was harmless error. These errors resulted in numerous conflicts with this Court's cases and raise questions of substantial public interest. This Court should accept review and reverse the appellate court.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the appellate court erroneously fail to apply a harmless error analysis where evidence was excluded under *Burnet*, *infra*?

2. Did the trial court properly grant summary judgment on Muhl's sex discrimination claim, where (a) Muhl failed to establish a *prima facie* case that she was doing satisfactory work and that she was replaced by someone outside the protected class; and (b) her failed *prima facie* case did not rebut Davies' legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for firing her, so (c) she thus failed to establish pretext?

3. Did the trial court properly grant summary judgment on Muhl's retaliation claim, where she was terminated over 9-months after her complaint, following a continuous pattern of poor performance, and immediately following one of three events ruled a legitimate nondiscriminatory basis for termination?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Since at least 2008, staff and other attorneys in Muhl's practice group had significant concerns about her work.

Appellant Csilla Muhl worked at Davies Pearson from 1996 to 1997, leaving the firm to work with a departing shareholder. CP 304-05. Muhl returned to Davies in 2006, joining shareholders Anne Peck and Jim Tomlinson in the family law group. CP 143-44, 155-56, 289. Peck helped mentor Muhl from 2008 to 2010, experiencing the following significant problems with Muhl's work: (1) overbilling; (2) mismanaging discovery and litigation; (3) wasting staff time; (4) assigning staff tasks that exceeded their capabilities; and (5) failing to instill confidence in clients. CP 85, 143-45, 153-54. Tomlinson had previously addressed the same issues with Muhl. CP 156-57.

In October 2008, shareholders relayed staff concerns that Muhl was unprepared for trial, and Peck learned that Muhl had mishandled discovery. CP 145, 156. Peck later learned that a client was very dissatisfied with Muhl's two-month delay in preparing his documents, caused by Muhl delegating the task to a paralegal who was unqualified for it. CP 151. Peck raised her many concerns with shareholders and the firm administrator, suggesting that Muhl be put on a performance plan or terminated. CP 85, 145, 151. She felt that Muhl was "[i]Il-suited" to litigation, but that her general likability delayed addressing her poor performance. CP 144.

As Tomlinson continued transitioning out of family law and stopped taking new cases in 2009, Davies hired Susan Caulkins to work in the family law group. CP 53, 125-26, 144. The entire family law group was women – Muhl, Peck, and Caulkins. CP 53-54.

Caulkins assumed a mentoring role with Muhl, prompted by increasing performance issues. CP 55. Caulkins shared Peck's concerns about Muhl, including that she: (1) failed to project professionalism and confidence; (2) dominated staff time with unbillable or unproductive work; (3) assigned work that was beyond staff capability; (4) gave poor instructions; (5) failed to manage litigation; and (6) and so badly mishandled calls from prospective clients that she lost clients. CP 55-56. Caulkins repeatedly addressed these problems with Muhl and with shareholders. CP 59.

Firm administrator Angela Cooper fielded more staff complaints about Muhl than any other attorney, and most staff assigned to Muhl asked to transfer. CP 85-87, 527. Their complaints echoed Peck, Tomlinson, and Caulkins. CP 55-56, 85-86, 144-45, 156-67. Cooper included Muhl in the hiring process to try to alleviate this problem, but complaints about Muhl never ended. *Id*.

Effective January 2010, Davies had to reduce Muhl's salary based on her collections for 2007 through 2009, and on her revenue projection for 2010. CP 140. Muhl never met her annual hourly goal and rarely came within her range of anticipated collections. CP 69, 127, 140. Davies could no longer sustain Muhl's salary. CP 140.

B. In addition to continued poor performance, three specific events led to Muhl's termination.

In October 2010, Muhl sought a continuance on the first day of trial after opposing counsel produced financial documents the night before. CP 56-57, 224-25, 312. The trial court bifurcated the trial, continuing the financial issues. CP 225. Muhl then returned to the office in "considerable panic," repeatedly stating in front of the client, staff, and attorneys: "I can't do this, I'm not ready, why would the judge do this?" CP 56, 312. The client became very concerned, demanding that another attorney take over. CP 56. Caulkins intervened and was able to restore calm. CP 57. This incident was very concerning to all who knew about it. CP 56-57, 69.

In 2010, Peck retired, Tomlinson was rapidly phasing out of family law, and Muhl and Caulkins reported that they were overworked. 143, 439. In January 2011, Davies hired Mark Nelson to work principally in family law and criminal law. CP 496, 538-39. The family law practice group has continued to grow since then. CP 438. After Nelson joined Davies, Muhl had her highest earning year, one of only two in which she surpassed her financial goal. CP 69, 131.

In February 2011, Caulkins gave Muhl a memo addressing her "meltdown" in front of the client, critiquing her trial performance,

and reiterating her poor time-management, lack of focus, and unprofessional demeanor. CP 61-63. Caulkins sent her memo to Muhl's supervising shareholder, Ron Coleman, who found the incident "very concerning." CP 57, 69. Coleman repeatedly tried to facilitate necessary improvement with Muhl. CP 427.

In June 2011, the trial court sent Muhl a letter regarding her conduct in the same trial. CP 57, 273. The appellate court misunderstood this incident as Muhl asking her expert a question in violation of a pretrial order. Op. at 2. Judge Hickman excluded witnesses from court pretrial, explaining that he wanted to hear testimony "uninfluenced" by others. CP 273 (emphasis omitted). Yet Muhl's valuation expert, Shelly Drury, testified that Muhl told her about the opposing expert's prior testimony and that Muhl had not sought an order allowing Drury to observe the trial because she thought that Judge Hickman would deny the request. *Id*.

Judge Hickman saw this is an effort to circumvent his pre-trial order, asking Muhl to explain. CP 273. Although Muhl's explanation satisfied Judge Hickman, the shareholders had significant concerns about this incident, and none could recall a similar one. CP 70, 347.

In July 2011, Coleman told Muhl that she was overbilling and under-collecting, stating "[w]e have a billable hours requirement and it is meaningless if everyone did what you are doing." CP 76. During one of their regular mentor meetings in November 2011, Muhl expressed dissatisfaction about her pay and progress at Davies, but Coleman did not find her arguments compelling. CP 69. Muhl had a rare good year in 2011, but admitted that it was an anomaly and predicted that she would not do as well in 2012. *Id.* And Muhl continued to have problems with collections, inefficient use of staff time, and a lack of self-confidence. CP 276, 337. Muhl also stated her feeling that Davies did not recognize, promote, and retain female attorneys effectively, and had failed to support her practice. CP 310. Coleman did not take this as a complaint about discrimination, so did not relay Muhl's comments to others. CP 69.

In December 2011, Muhl raised transitioning out of Davies and Coleman responded that Davies was not asking her to leave, but would support her if she elected to do so. CP 70-71.¹ Despite Muhl's failure to ever meet her hourly goal, Muhl received a bonus for 2011, a rare year that she surpassed her financial goal. CP 127, 131.

¹ Although Muhl's notes state her intent to discuss transitioning out, she claimed uncertainty as to whether she and Coleman discussed it. CP 231-33, 275-76.

In June 2012, Coleman followed up with Muhl on her transition out of Davies. CP 71. According to Muhl, Coleman told her that she was not a candidate for shareholder, but could remain at Davies as an associate. CP 311, 345.² Though the conversation about transitioning from Davies was "vague," "Muhl was positive about the idea and agreed." *Id.* Muhl's hours and billings then decreased. *Id.*

In September 2012, Muhl elected not to attend her client's contempt hearing, despite being counsel of record. CP 313-14, 580. Muhl argued on appeal that she felt bound by her client's instructions not to attend. Op. at 3. But Muhl's declaration in response to the contempt motion stated that she would be taking her child to school and that her client could not afford her and understood that he would "need to proceed on his own." CP 520.

The morning of the contempt hearing, Caulkins learned that Muhl would not attend the hearing and that the client faced jail time and financial sanctions. CP 57-58, 71. Caulkins immediately went to court, introduced herself to the client, and explained that they were still counsel of record and that she would like to be with him during

² Muhl argued below that Coleman also commented on her age, which Coleman denied. CP 71, 311, 345. This is irrelevant as Muhl did not appeal from the summary judgment dismissal of her age discrimination claims. BA 1.

the hearing. CP 58, 587. The client welcomed and appreciated Caulkins' representation. CP 587.

Caulkins notified Tomlinson and Coleman about this incident and her concerns about Muhl's prospects for improvement. CP 58. The shareholders found Muhl's willingness to place "money over the client's interest" part of a troubling pattern of conduct. CP 555-56; *also* CP 71, 430, 544.

Within the next week or so, the shareholders decided that Muhl could no longer continue practicing at Davies. CP 71-72, 142, 559. On September 13, managing shareholder Lamont Loo instructed the shareholders not to talk about Muhl's departure until she decided how she would like to handle the announcement. CP 125, 142. On the 28th, Loo and Coleman told Muhl that she could announce her departure as a resignation, transition, or termination. CP 71, 415, 559. Coleman asked Muhl for a decision by October 1, but heard nothing from her. CP 71-72. Coleman emailed Muhl on October 3, but again hearing nothing, told Muhl that Loo would tell the other associates that Muhl was transitioning out. CP 72, 84.

C. The trial court dismissed Muhl's claims on summary judgment, but the appellate court reversed.

Muhl sued Davies, alleging several claims, including gender discrimination. CP 5-6. Davies filed two summary judgment motions, seeking to dismiss all of Muhl's claims. CP 12-52; BR 1. In response to Davies' second motion, Muhl disclosed a purported expert witness, Dr. Rosalind Barnett, six-months after the discovery cut-off, providing her report over a month later. CP 450, 453. Davies moved to strike Barnett's report on multiple grounds, including that it was (1) untimely filed; (2) lacking adequate foundation; (3) speculative; and (4) irrelevant. CP 449-86; BR 18-22, 41-42.

The trial court granted Davies' motion to strike Barnett's report and dismissed all of Muhl's claims on summary judgment. CP 660-62, 663-64. Muhl appealed the summary judgment dismissal of her wrongful termination and retaliation claims and the order striking Barnett's report. CP 665-71. The appellate court reversed, holding that the court erroneously struck Barnett's report without properly applying the **Burnet** test, and holding that material questions of fact precluded summary judgment. **Muhl v. Davies Pearson, P.C.**, No. 46602-3-II (October 20, 2015). Davies seeks review.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The appellate court's holding on the exclusion of Muhl's witness conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Keck v. Collins* and *Jones v. City of Seattle*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The appellate court reversed the trial court's exclusion of Muhl's late-disclosed expert under **Burnet**, *infra*, declining to consider Davies' argument that the evidence was inadmissible on numerous evidentiary grounds. Op. at 7-8. Davies does not seek review of the holding on **Burnet**. But the appellate court erroneously failed to consider harmless error, in conflict with **Keck** and **Jones**, *infra*. This Court should accept review and reverse.

Very recently in *Keck v. Collins*, this Court held for the first time that the three-part *Burnet* test applies where a trial court excludes evidence untimely filed under the timelines governing summary judgment. *Keck v. Collins*, ___ Wn.2d __, ¶25, 357 P.3d 1080, __ (2015) (*Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997)). The Court reversed, noting that the parties did not dispute that the excluded evidence created a genuine issue of material fact. *Keck*, at ¶25 n.7. As the concurrence reminded, however, failing to properly apply the *Burnet* factors "is not per se reversible error." *Keck* at ¶43 (Gonzalez concurring) (citing *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 338, 360, 314 P.3d 380 (2013)). Rather, "[r]eversal is strong medicine and will not be administered when it is plain from the record that the error was harmless." *Id*.

In stark contrast to *Keck*, Muhl did not argue that Barnett's report created a material question of fact and the appellate court did not address that issue. BA 18-39; Reply 12-17; Op. at 6-8. Absent a holding that Barnett's report creates a question of fact, its exclusion is harmless. The appellate decision is at odds with *Keck*.

The appellate court's decision similarly contradicts *Jones*, in which this Court held, for the first time, that a *Burnet* violation could be harmless, where the excluded evidence was irrelevant, unfairly prejudicial, or "merely cumulative." *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 355-60. Contrary to *Jones*, the appellate court refused to consider Davies' argument that the court should affirm on the alternate ground that Barnett's report was inadmissible on numerous evidentiary grounds.³ Op. at 7-8. This issue was not, as the appellate court held, limited to

³ As just one example of speculation, Barnett opined that the "model minority" stereotype that Asian women are hardworking and successful might explain why shareholder Sok-Khieng Lim excelled at Davies, despite being female. BR 20-21; CP 378-79, 460-61. Lim was not deposed and submitted no declaration, and Barnett had no knowledge of her workplace performance. CP 460-61. And as far as relevance, Barnett addressed the subconscious process, "confirmation bias," which has no bearing on the intentional torts Muhl alleged. BR 41-42; CP 372-74, 457-58.

a single sentence, but was briefed at length. *Compare id. with* BR 18-22, 41-42. This Court should accept review.

B. The appellate court's erroneous WLAD analysis conflicts with numerous decisions of this court, and the other appellate courts, and presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4).

The opinion appropriately applies the standard *McDonnell Douglas*⁴ test for cases where, as here, a "plaintiff lacks 'direct evidence of discriminatory animus.'" Op. at 9 (quoting *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 180, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), *overruled in part*, *McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006)). The court thus noted that the plaintiff must first make out a *prima facie* case, showing that she (1) is in a protected class; (2) was discharged; (3) was doing satisfactory work; and (4) was replaced by someone outside the protected class. *Id.* at 9, 11.⁵ As discussed below, the appellate court erred in holding that Muhl met her burden as to the third and fourth elements.

⁴ *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973).

⁵ Citing, *inter alia*, *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 181; *Domingo v. Boeing Emps. Credit Union*, 124 Wn. App. 71, 78, 80, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004); *Short v. Battle Ground Sch. Dist.*, 169 Wn. App. 188, 204, 279 P.3d 902 (2012), *overruled in part*, *Kumar v. Gate Gourmet, Inc.*, 180 Wn.2d 481, 325 P.3d 193 (2004).

If the employee meets her burden, then the employer must show legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons justifying the termination. Op. at 10, 14.⁶ Davies concededly met its burden of production. *Id.* at 14; BA 25. Thus, the presumption of discrimination dropped out of the case, and Muhl had to prove discrimination, either by showing that Davies' reasons were "unworthy of belief," or that discrimination was a "substantial factor" in her firing. *Id.* at 10-11, 15-17.⁷ The court's analysis conflicts with many of the authorities cited.

1. Muhl's work was not satisfactory.

To avoid summary judgment, Muhl had to show "specific and material facts to support each element of the prima facie case." **Domingo**, 124 Wn. App. at 77 & n.6 (citing **Hill**, 144 Wn.2d at 181). The appellate court held that Muhl met the third element of her *prima facie* case by showing that she was doing satisfactory work. Op. at 11-12. The court ignores the vast evidence of Muhl's many failings.

⁶ Citing *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 182; *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 363-64, 753 P.2d 517 (1988); *Domingo*, 124 Wn. App. at 77, *Currier v. Northland Servs., Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 733, 743, 332 P.3d 1006 (2014), *rev. denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1006 (2015).

⁷ Citing *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 181-82, *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 446-48, 334 P.3d 541 (2014); *Domingo*, 124 Wn. App. at 77; *Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 46, 73, 821 P.2d 18 (1991); *Kuyper v. Dep't of Wildlife*, 79 Wn. App. 732, 738, 904 P.2d 793 (1995); *Sellsted v. Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank*, 69 Wn. App. 852, 859-60, 851 P.2d 716 (1993), *overruled in part*, *Mackay v. Acord Custom Cabinetry*, 127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995)

From the outset, Muhl's interactions and communications with staff were problematic, and most asked to be reassigned. CP 55-56, 85-86, 144, 153-54, 527. Muhl failed to timely manage discovery and to properly control litigation, seeming ill-suited to the adversarial process. CP 56, 60, 144, 156. She also had significant difficulties with obtaining, retaining, billing, and collecting from clients. CP 55, 58-59, 69, 76, 140, 276. In addition, there are the three incidents that the appellate court determined were legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for her termination. Op. at 14. This is undisputed evidence of Muhl's less-than-satisfactory work. Her claim thus fails.

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