Received Washington State Supreme Court

DEC 2 3 2015

Clerk

E

NO. 92510-1

Ronald R. Carpenter SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 46602-3-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CSILLA MUHL,

Appellant,

v.

DAVIES PEARSON, P.C.,

Respondent.

CSILLA MUHL'S ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID CORBETT PLLC David Corbett, WSBA No. 30895 2106 North Steele Street Tacoma, WA 98406 david@davidcorbettlaw.com (253) 414-5235

LAW OFFICES OF JUDITH A. LONNQUIST, P.S. Judith A. Lonnquist, WSBA No. 06421 Brian L. Dolman, WSBA No. 32365 1218 Third Ave., Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98101 lojal@aol.com brian@lonnquistlaw.com (206) 622-2086

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

Davies also asserts that Muhl failed to carry her burden of production on the fourth element.²⁶ Again, Davies' argument for review relies on ignoring evidence in the record. Viewed "[i]n the light most favorable to Muhl, the record shows that Davies Pearson hired Nelson to put a male attorney in its family law group [CP 438-39] and that Nelson's hiring resulted in him receiving the work that used to go to Muhl [CP 340-42, 424-26, 433-34]."²⁷ The Court of Appeals concluded properly that, "[f]rom this evidence, a reasonable fact finder could determine that Nelson replaced Muhl."²⁸

Finally, Davies contests the Court of Appeals' refusal to rule as a matter of law that Nelson could not have replaced Muhl because his hiring

²⁴ Opinion, at p. 12.

²⁵ Cf. Petition, at p. 15 (citing to White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 929 P.2d 396 (1997); Wash. Fed'n of State Emp. v. State Personnel Bd., 29 Wn.App, 818, 630 P.2d 951 (1981); Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 364-65, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (unlike the facts at bar, the employer in Grimwood provided written notice of performance deficiencies and expressed willingness to help the employee improve.)).
²⁶ Petition, at p. 16-18.

²⁷ Opinion, at p. 13 (CP cites in brackets added).

²⁸ Id.

pre-dated her firing.²⁹ Davies cites to *no* authority in support of its asserted bright-line rule of immunity for employers who hire a replacement prior to terminating a victim of discrimination.³⁰ In contrast, the Court of Appeals properly noted that WLAD "contains a sweeping policy statement strongly condemning many forms of discrimination ... [and it] requires that '[it] be construed liberally for the accomplishment of the purposes thereof."³¹ The Opinion concludes correctly that "[a] jury should determine the factual question of whether Nelson replaced Muhl."³²

b. Muhl produced sufficient evidence to raise genuine issues of material fact regarding whether Davies' proffered explanation for the termination was pretextual.

Since Muhl discharged her burden of making out a *prima facie* case of discrimination, the burden shifted to Davies to "articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for termination."³³ The Court of Appeals found that Davies carried this burden by presenting evidence that it had terminated Muhl because of her emotional display in front of "K," the letter from the trial judge in the "K" trial, and her failure to appear at the contempt hearing.³⁴ However, the Court of Appeals also held that Muhl presented evidence raising material questions of fact as to whether

²⁹ Petition, at p. 15-16. *See also* Brief of Respondent, at p. 28 (asserting that "as a matter of law, Muhl cannot establish that she was replaced by Nelson when Nelson's hire preceded Muhl's termination by eighteen months.").

³⁰ Petition, at p. 15-16.

³¹ Opinion, at p. 13 (citing to *Allison v. Hous. Auth. of Seattle*, 118 Wn.2d 79, 85–86, 821 P.2d 34 (1991)).

³² Opinion, at p. 13.

³³ See, e.g., Grimwood, 110 Wn.2d at 363-64.

³⁴ Opinion, at p. 14-15.

Davies' explanations were pretextual.³⁵

To show pretext, Muhl needed to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Davies' justifications for terminating her were "unworthy of belief."³⁶ A plaintiff can raise a material question of fact about pretext in a variety of ways: by producing evidence, "for example, that the reason has no basis in fact, it was not really a motivating factor for the decision, it lacks a temporal connection to the decision or was not a motivating factor in employment decisions for other employees in the same circumstances."³⁷ The Court of Appeals properly held that Muhl carried her burden on the issue of pretext by: 1) producing evidence of performance that meets employer expectations; and 2) producing evidence that Davies desired to have a male employee in its family law group.³⁸

Davies raises two objections to this conclusion. First, it recycles its claim that "undisputed, objective evidence [proves] that Muhl was not a satisfactory attorney," while remaining blind to the lack of remedial action and Muhl's receipt of performance ratings at a level that Davies' expects.³⁹ As explained in detail above, it strains credulity to rely upon Davies' representation of Muhl's performance.⁴⁰ The law required the

³⁵ Opinion, at p. 15-17 (Div. II presumably did not address the third reason due to the passage of time since resolution of the issue and Coleman's admitted satisfaction with the result; CP 350, 357-58)).

³⁶ Id. (citing to Kuyper v. Dep't of Wildlife, 79 Wn.App. 732, 738, 904 P.2d 793 (1995); and Sellsted v. Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank, 69 Wn.App. 852, 859-60, 851 P.2d 716 (1993)).

³⁷ Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 447-48, 334 P.3d 541 (2014) (quoting *Kuyper*, 79 Wn.App. at 738-39).

³⁸ Opinion, at p. 15-17; CP 305-06, 321-32.

³⁹ Petition, at p. 17; CP 321-32.

⁴⁰ See supra, at p. 11-12.

Court of Appeals to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Muhl, not in a manner favorable to the party seeking a summary determination. So viewed, the evidence clearly creates at least material questions of fact as to the quality of Muhl's performance as an attorney and, accordingly, bars summary judgment on the issue of pretext.

Secondly, Davies contends that "a reasonable juror may not infer discrimination where shareholders wanted to add a male to an all-female law group."⁴¹ Davies offers no legal support for this contention, which is contrary to substantial authority holding that sex is a *bona fide* occupational qualification *only if* "excluding members of a particular protected status group is 'essential to . . . the purposes of the job."⁴² The Court of Appeals did not err by holding that Muhl established genuine issues of material fact regarding pretext that must be resolved by a jury.⁴³

c. Genuine issues of fact also bar summary judgment on Muhl's retaliation claim.

In addition to claiming that Davies discriminated against her, Muhl also alleged that Davies retaliated against her on the basis of her opposition to unlawful discrimination on the basis of gender. CP 1-7, 340-42. To establish a *prima facie* case of retaliation, Muhl must show "(1) . . . she engaged in statutorily protected activity; (2) an adverse employment action was taken; and (3) there was a causal link between the employee's

⁴¹ Petition, at p. 18.

⁴² See Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 162 Wn.2d 340, 358, 172 P.3d 688 (2007) (quoting WAC 162-16-240). See also Franklin Co. Sheriff's Office v. Sellers, 97 Wn.2d 317, 646 P2d 113 (1982) (holding that client preference does not establish a bona fide occupational qualification).

⁴³ Opinion, at p. 15-17.

activity and the employer's adverse action.⁴⁴ Davies challenges only the sufficiency of Muhl's evidence on the causality element.⁴⁵

Davies' assertion that a conflict exists with the decision in *Wilmot*⁴⁶ is unpersuasive. The Court of Appeals, in fact, relied on *Wilmot* and aligned its decision in accordance with the liberal construction of WLAD retaliation jurisprudence.⁴⁷ In *Wilmot*, this Court "agree[d] in general" with allowing plaintiff to show causality by establishing that she participated in opposition activity, that the employer knew of the opposition activity, and that she was discharged.⁴⁸ Davies acknowledges that the Opinion follows this approach.⁴⁹ The Court of Appeals did not err by following an approach generally approved of by this Court.

Further, because WLAD's retaliation provision closely parallels the language of Title VII, the Court of Appeals may reference and adopt the persuasive analyses within federal cases, thereby promoting the mandates of state retaliation law.⁵⁰ The U.S. Supreme Court viewed the retaliation provision of Title VII broader than its substantive

⁴⁴ Id. at p. 17 (quoting Estevez v. Faculty Club of Univ. of Wash., 129 Wn.App. 774, 797, 120 P.3d 579 (2005)). See also WPI 330.05.

⁴⁵ Petition, at p. 19. Davies has thus abandoned its challenge to the first element, which it raised in the Court of Appeals. *See* Opinion, at p. 17-18.

⁴⁶ Petition, at p. 19; *Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 46, 69, 821 P.2d 18, 29 (1991).

⁴⁷ Opinion, at p. 17-20; *Wilmot*, 118 Wn.2d at 69.

⁴⁸ Id.

⁴⁹Petition, at p. 19.

⁵⁰ Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn.App. 835, 849-51, 292 P.3d 779 (2013)(citing Oliver v. Pac. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 106 Wn.2d 675, 678, 724 P.2d 1003 (1986)); Antonius v. King Cty., 153 Wn.2d 256, 266, 103 P.3d 729 (2004).

discrimination provision.⁵¹ Given that WLAD is broader than Title VII and is to be more liberally construed. Muhl's retaliation claim is a fortiori to Burlington Northern.⁵² More directly, Muhl is not required to prove an element of "temporal proximity."⁵³ Courts consider proximity of events when analyzing the causation element; the mere fact that alleged events appear close in time does not, without more, establish a retaliation claim.⁵⁴ Courts also consider whether the employer knew of the opposition activity before termination, which Muhl sufficiently established.⁵⁵

Davies also asserts, without supporting its argument, a substantial issue of public interest related to an allowable "outer limit of temporal proximity" between the protected activity and retaliatory action.⁵⁶ This question is of interest only if one assumes there must be a strict limit that can be applied in all cases. The Court of Appeals reasonably adopted the reasoning in Coszalter when noting that "a specified time period [between protected activity and retaliation] cannot be a mechanically applied criterion. A rule that any period over a certain time is per se too long []

⁵¹ Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 68, 126 S.Ct. 2405

^{(2006). 52} Burlington Northern, 548 U.S. at 68; Martini v. Boeing Co., 137 Wn.2d 357, 372-75,

⁵³ See WPI 330.05; see also Ninth Cir. Model Nos. 10.4A, 10.4A.1.

⁵⁴ Tyner v. DSHS, 137 Wn.App. 545, 565-66, 154 P.3d 920 (2007); Little v. Windermere Relocation, Inc., 301 F.3d 958, 970-71 (9th Ninth. 2001).

⁵⁵ Currier v. Northland Svcs., Inc., 182 Wn.App. 733, 746-49, 332 P.3d 1006 (2014) (referencing the employer's knowledge of opposition activity and inconsistencies in the non-retaliatory explanation); CP 309-11, 340-42; Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic., P.S., 114 Wn.App. 611, 623-24, 60 P.3d 106 (2002) (inconsistent explanations cannot be resolved on summary judgment).

⁵⁶ *Id.* at 19-20.

would be unrealistically simplistic."⁵⁷ Whether an adverse employment action followed Muhl's complaints is a question of fact that must be decided in light of the totality of surrounding circumstances.⁵⁸ There is no "substantial public interest" in forcing lower courts to use an inflexible, inherently arbitrary rule rather than their informed judgment based on the facts of each case.⁵⁹ Davies thus again fails to identify a proper basis for this Court to grant review.

3. <u>Because the Court of Appeals had an independent basis</u> for reversing the trial court, it did not err by refusing to conduct harmless error analysis of the conceded *Burnet* violation.

Davies now concedes that the trial court violated *Burnet* when it struck the testimony of Dr. Barnett due to untimely disclosure, without first finding that Muhl's failure to timely disclose Dr. Barnett as a witness was (1) willful and (2) incapable of remedy with a lesser sanction.⁶⁰ This concession is wise, since this Court recently held in *Keck* held that "*Burnet* analysis . . . is . . . appropriate when the trial court excludes untimely evidence submitted in response to a summary judgment motion."⁶¹ Even if it were not conceded, this Court recognized a goal to promote a just determination in every case and refused to differentiate the application of applying *Burnet* to various circumstances of evidentiary

⁵⁷ Opinion, at p. 20; Coszalter v. City of Salem, 320 F.3d 968, 977-78 (9th Cir. 2003).

⁵⁸ Opinion, at p. 20-21; *France v. Johnson*, 795 F.3d 1170, 1176-77 (9th Cir. 2015); *Kahn v. Salerno*, 90 Wn.App. 110, 130-32 (1998); *Barker v. Advanced Silicon*, 131 Wn.App. 616, 629, 128 P.3d 633 (2006) (establishing the existence of a discrimination complaint creates an issue of fact).

⁵⁹ RAP 13.4(b)(4).

⁶⁰Petition, at p. 11 (stating that "Davies does not seek review of the holding on *Burnet*"). ⁶¹ *Keck*, 184 Wn.2d at 369.

exclusion.⁶² Nonetheless, Davies alleges that the Court of Appeals "erroneously fail[ed] to apply a harmless error analysis" to the trial court's *Burnet* violation.⁶³

This argument fails for two distinct reasons. First, Davies failed to argue properly harmless error to the Court of Appeals. As the Opinion notes, Davies' cursory argument on this point "appears to be an attempt to incorporate its trial briefing into its appellate brief."⁶⁴ Davies further fails to establish that its argument could possibly support Supreme Court discretionary review.⁶⁵ It plainly does not.

Second, even if Davies had properly raised the issue, the Court of Appeals would not have erred by refusing to conduct a harmless error analysis. This is because the Court of Appeals had "an independent grounds to vacate the summary judgment order," so that harmless error analysis of other trial court errors such as the *Burnet* violation "would [have been] extraneous."⁶⁶ It is a well-established principle of law that an appellate court which reverses and remands due to a specific trial court errors were harmless.⁶⁷ Here, Davies concedes, and in fact emphasizes, that "Muhl

⁶² Id.

⁶³ Petition, at p. 2 and pp. 11-12.

⁶⁴ Opinion, at p. 8 (citing to *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 416, 120 P.3d 56 (2005) for the proposition that appellate courts generally decline to address issues given passing treatment, and to *Holland v. City of Tacoma*, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1988) for the proposition that parties are forbidden to argue issues by incorporating trial briefs).

⁶⁵ Petition for Review, at p. 12-13.

⁶⁶ Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 375 (Gonzalez, J., concurring).

⁶⁷ See, e.g., State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 475, 341 P.3d 976, 984 cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 2844 (2015) (noting that "[w]e need not determine whether [error in the prosecutor's

did not argue that Barnett's report created a material question of fact *and the appellate court did not address that issue.*⁶⁸ Since the Court of Appeals' decision to reverse the grant of summary judgment in no way depended on the contents of Dr. Barnett's report, there was no need for it to conduct a harmless error analysis of the conceded *Burnet* violation.

VI. MUHL IS CONDITIONALLY ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF HER REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES FOR ANSWERING THE PETITION

RCW 49.60.030(2) authorizes a prevailing plaintiff to recover attorney fees, including those on appeal.⁶⁹ This Court should direct the trial court that, should receive a verdict on her WLAD claims, she is entitled to the reasonable fees incurred in answering the Petition.⁷⁰

VII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Davies' Petition, and conditionally award Muhl her reasonable fees incurred herein.

⁶⁹ Opinion, at p. 23.

opening statement] was reversible error because the impropriety of the prosecutor's closing was so egregious"); *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 496, 78 P.3d 1001, 1005 (2003) (holding that "[b]ecause we reverse and remand this case based on the trial court's failure to provide a no duty to retreat instruction, we need not consider whether the trial court's error in failing to provide a limiting instruction constitutes a harmless or reversible error"); and *State v. Matthews*, 6 Wn.App. 201, 204-05, 492 P.2d 1076 (1971) (holding that "[h]aving decided the appeal on the other grounds we need not determine whether [use of a racial slur in closing] was reversible error. Since it could occur upon retrial we must express our disapproval").

⁶⁸ Petition, at p. 12 (emphasis added).

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